
City of Kelowna
Regular Council Meeting

AGENDA
 

Tuesday, February 18, 2014

6:00 pm

Council Chamber

City Hall, 1435 Water Street

Pages

1. Call to Order

2. Prayer

A Prayer will be offered by Councillor DeHart.

3. Confirmation of Minutes 1 - 6

Public Hearing - February 4, 2014
Regular Meeting - February 4, 2014

4. Bylaws Considered at Public Hearing

4.1 Bylaw No. 10912 (OCP13-0008) - (Off of), (N of) & 2458 Joe Riche Road, Black
Mountain Irrigation District

7 - 8

Requires a majority of all members of Council (5).
To give Bylaw No. 10912 second and third readings.

4.2 Bylaw No. 10913 (Z13-0009) - (Off of), (N of) & 2458 Joe Riche Road, Black
Mountain Irrigation District

9 - 10

To give Bylaw No. 10913 second and third readings.

5. Notification of Meeting

The City Clerk will provide information as to how the following items on the Agenda
were publicized.

6. Liquor License Application Reports

6.1 Bylaw No. 10854 (Z12-0006) - 587-589 Lawrence Avenue, Finnasha Holdings
Corp.

11 - 11

To adopt Bylaw No. 10854 in order to rezone the subject property from the C7
- Central Business Commercial zone to the C7lp - Central Business Commercial
(Liquor Primary) zone.



6.1.1 Liquor License Application No. LL12-0002 - 587-589 Lawrence
Avenue, Finnasha Holdings Corp.

12 - 28

City Clerk to state for the record any correspondence received. 
Mayor to invite anyone in the public gallery who deems themselves
affected by the liquor license application to come forward.
This application seeks Council’s support for a Liquor Primary License
for a new liquor primary establishment located on the subject
property.

7. Development Permit and Development Variance Permit Reports

7.1 Bylaw No. 10869 (OCP13-0009) - 434, 442 & 458 Royal Avenue, Interior Health
Authority

29 - 29

Requires a majority of all members of Council (5).
To adopt Bylaw No. 10869 in order to change the future land use designation
of the subject properties from the Single/Two Unit Residential designation to
the Educational/Major Institutional designation.

7.1.1 Bylaw No. 10870 (Z13-0015) - 434, 442 & 458 Royal Avenue, Interior
Health Authority

30 - 30

To adopt Bylaw No. 10870 in order to rezone the subject properties
from the RU1 - Large Lot Housing zone to the P1 - Major Institutional
zone.

7.1.2 Heritage Alternation Permit Application No. HAP13-0004, 434 Royal
Avenue, Interior Health Authority

31 - 54

City Clerk to state for the record any correspondence received.  Mayor to invite anyone in the

public gallery who deems themselves affected by the required variance(s) to come forward. 

To consider a Heritage Alteration Permit to demolish the Heritage
Register home located at 434 Royal Avenue and to consider the
proposed parking lot’s design details. The following variances to
the Zoning Bylaw are also being proposed: (a)  Vary the required
front yard parking setback from 2.0m required to 0.3m proposed;
(b) Vary the front yard landscape buffer from 3.0m required to
0.3m proposed; (c) Vary the landscape island area from 182m²
required to 38.66m² proposed.

7.2 Heritage Alteration Permit Application No. HAP13-0020 - 1979 Abbott Street,
Edward & Marilyn Wiltshire

55 - 75

City Clerk to state for the record any correspondence received.  Mayor to
invite anyone in the public gallery who deems themselves affected by the
required variance(s) to come forward.
To consider a Heritage Alteration Permit (HAP) to permit additions to the
main floor of the existing house, and to raise the existing main floor
elevation to facilitate the reconstruction of the existing crawl space. The



application also includes variances to legalize the existing non-
conforming north side yard and provision of one onsite parking space.

8. Reminders

9. Termination



1



2



3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: January 24, 2014 

RIM No. 0930-50 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning Branch, Community Planning and Real Estate Division (PMc) 

Application: LL12-0002 Owner: 
Finnasha Holdings Corp. Inc. 
No. BC0905417 

Address: 587-589 Lawrence Ave. Applicant: 
Rising Tide Consultants Ltd. 
For DV8 Entertainment Inc. 

Subject: 2014 02 18 Report LL12-0002587-589 Lawrence Ave  

Existing OCP Designation: MXR – Mixed Use (Commercial/Residential) 

Existing Zone: C7 – Central Business District 

Proposed Zone: C7lp – Central Business District (liquor primary) 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Zone Amending Bylaw 10854 be forwarded for adoption consideration,  
 
AND THAT in accordance with Section 53 of the Liquor Control and Licensing Regulation and 
Council Policy #359, be it resolved that: 
 
Council’s comments on the Liquor Control & Licensing Branch (LCLB)’s prescribed considerations 
for the application from at address: 587-589 Lawrence Avenue, Kelowna BC, (legally described as 
Lot 6, District Lot 139, ODYD, Plan 2536) for a new Liquor Primary License, are as follows: 
 
a) The potential for noise if the application is approved: 
A Minimal increase in noise is expected compared to current circumstances. 
 
b) The impact on the community if the application is approved: 
The potential for negative impacts are considered to be minimal. 
 
c) View of residents:  
The Council’s comments on the views of residents (if applicable) are as contained within the 
minutes of the meeting at which the application was considered by Council.  The methods used 
to gather views of residents were as per Council Policy #359 “Liquor Licensing Policy & 
Procedures.” 
 

12



LL12-0002 – Page 2 

 
 

d) The person capacity and hours of liquor service of the establishment: 
The total person capacity proposed for liquor primary service is 250 seats with serving hours of 
11:00am to 2:00am, 7 days a week. 
 
e) Traffic and parking: 
The C7 parking requirements are calculated based on gross floor area, regardless of use (or 
occupant load).  Therefore, the onsite parking is considered compliant to the C7 zone 
regulations.  
 
f) The proximity of the establishment to other social or recreational facilities and public 
buildings: 
Surrounding facilities would not conflict with the proposed establishment. 
 
g) Recommendation: 
Council recommends that the application for a new liquor primary license for a total capacity of 
250 patrons for the property located at 587-589 Lawrence Ave. be approved. 

2.0 Purpose 

This application seeks Council’s support for a Liquor Primary License for a new liquor primary 
establishment located on the subject property. 

3.0 Urban Planning Department 

Council Policy #359 specifies guidelines for the siting and density of Liquor Primary 
Establishments.  These parameters are designed to help control the density of late-night 
establishments with a focus on alcohol (nightclubs, pubs, etc.).  Given the location of existing of 
establishments in the area, the application complies with Policy #359.   

The proposed license would create greater opportunities to serve a range of patrons, and 
compliment existing licensed establishments, without causing significant changes to the existing 
business operation.  The proposed Liquor Primary establishment is catering to a target market of 
adults 25+, and providing both a “kitchen and bar”, as well as a “social lounge”, this meets the 
intent of the City fostering the provision of facilities which diversify the selection of venues and 
entertainment opportunities throughout the Downtown. 

Given the above considerations, the Urban Planning Department is supportive of the proposed 
Liquor Primary establishment.  In addition, both the RCMP and Bylaw Enforcement have no 
concerns with the proposal. 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

The applicant originally made application for rezoning and liquor licensing on February 12, 2012.  
However, owing to a company restructuring, the applicant requested that the application be held 
in abeyance until these issues were resolved.  The corporate structure reorganization concluded 
in April 2013 and the applicant indicated a desire to proceed with this application with a new 
consultant team involved.  The application was also delayed while an acoustic study was 
completed to identify the potential for sound generation as well as potential noise issues. 
 

13



LL12-0002 – Page 3 

 
 

An application has been forwarded by the licensee to the Provincial Liquor Control and Licensing 
Branch (LCLB) for their approval.  Procedurally, all new Liquor Primary license requests require 
Local Government comment/consideration.   

The applicant has commissioned an acoustic assessment for the development of the subject 
property to assure that there will be minimal noise impact on adjacent properties.  This acoustic 
review was based upon the type of assessment commonly undertaken for applications in the City 
of Vancouver. 

Based on that format, the consultant recommends that the interior noise level be limited to a 
maximum level of 100db, without any building modifications.  Should a higher sound level be 
desired, it was recommended that a vestibule be created by the addition of a door adjacent to 
the coat check area.  This modification would support an increase of the noise level to 105db. 

4.2 Project Description 

The applicant is proposing to develop two licensed establishments on the subject property; a 204 
m² (2,200sf) kitchen and bar, operated as a coffee shop with a pub featuring micro breweries and 
local wineries.  Additionally, a 297 m² (3,200sf) Social Lounge catering to a more mature, upscale 
clientele will also be offered.  The intent is to provide a combination of beverage, dining and 
entertainment options, operating as one facility called the “Mixing Room”.  The proposal includes 
a Kitchen and Bar area with a capacity of 120 persons, while the lounge area of a 130 persons, 
for a total capacity of 250 patrons.  The lounge area includes a dance floor. 

The draft occupant load calculation shows a maximum occupant load of 250 persons. 
 
Proposed License Summary: 

Proposed Hours of Sale: 

 Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday 

Open 11:00am 11:00am 11:00am 11:00am 11:00am 11:00am 11:00am 

Close 2:00am 2:00am 2:00am 2:00am 2:00am 2:00am 2:00am 

        

Licensed Area Capacity 

Kitchen and Bar Area 120 patrons 

Social Lounge Area 130 patrons 

Total Proposed Person Capacity  250 patrons* 

*The proposed capacity is based on preliminary floor plans, which are subject to approval by the Building & 
Permitting Branch and the LCLB. 

4.3 Site Context 

The subject property is surrounded by a mix of commercial and retail uses.  See attached map for 
existing community services and liquor primary locations. 
 

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North C7 – Central Business Commercial Parking lot (Town Centre Mall) 

East C7 – Central Business Commercial Retail / Commercial uses 

South C7 – Central Business Commercial Retail / Commercial uses 

West C7 – Central Business Commercial Retail / Commercial uses 

14



LL12-0002 – Page 4 

 
 

 

Subject Property Map:         587-589 Lawrence Ave. 
 

  
 

5.0 Current Development Policies 

5.1 Council Policy #359 – Liquor Licensing Policy and Procedures 

The following sections of Policy #359 are applicable to this application: 

 Large establishments (with person capacity greater than 249 persons): 
i) Should only be located within an Urban Centre. 
ii) Should be located a minimum of 250m from another Large establishment. 
iii) Should be located a minimum of 100m from a Medium establishment. 
iv) Should not be located beside a Small establishment. 

5.2 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Entertainment Venues.1 Within designated Urban Centres, encourage private-sector provision of 
facilities which diversify the selection of venues and entertainment opportunities throughout the 
city. 
Downtown.2  The City of Kelowna recognizes that a unique, attractive, thriving and livable 
downtown is strategically important to Kelowna’s overall prosperity and success. Towards this 
end, the City will plan and manage the Downtown as a single and special entity and will take a 
proactive, comprehensive, integrated and collaborative approach towards providing services and 
infrastructure, delivering programs, and developing a supportive regulatory and financial 
environment. 

                                                
1
 Policy 5.17.1 (Development Process Chapter 5, page 5.21) 

2
 Policy 8.9.2 (Economic Development Chapter8, page 8.4 ) 

SUBJECT PROPERTY 

Town Centre Mall 

First United Church 

Brigadier Angle Armoury 

Down Town Youth Centre, 
Boys and Girls Club 

15



LL12-0002 – Page 5 

 
 

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

No Comment 

6.2 Bylaw Services 

No Comment. 

6.3 Fire Department 

Additional comments will be required at the building permit application. 

6.4 Interior Health Authority 

The applicant has contacted the Environmental Health Office concerning approval of the 
proposed food service establishment. 
 

6.5 R.C.M.P. 
 
 Our comments remain unchanged from rezoning Z12-0006, other than the requirement for 
 an acoustic assessment of the premises, which has been completed. 

7.0 Application Chronology 

Date of Application Received: February 12, 2012 
Date of Placed on hold:  April, 2012 
Date New information Received: April 24, 2012 & December 13, 2013 

Report prepared by: 

     
Paul McVey, Land Use Planner  
 

Reviewed by:    Ryan Smith, Manager, Urban Land Use 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Doug Gilchrist, Divisional Director,  
     Community Planning and Real Estate 

 

Attachments: 

Location Map 
Executive Summary 
Neighbourhood Comments 
Acoustic Consultant Report 
Provisional Floor Plan (Occupant Load) 
Site Plan 

16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: 2/18/2014 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Sustainability (AW) 

Application: HAP13-0004 Owner: Interior Health Authority 

Address: 434 Royal Avenue Applicant: Interior Health Authority 

Subject: Heritage Alteration Permit Application 

Existing OCP Designation: Single / Two Unit Residential  

Proposed OCP Designation: Educational / Major Institutional 

Existing Zone: RU1 – Large Lot Housing 

Proposed Zone: P1 – Major Institutional 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Final Adoption of OCP Amending Bylaw No. 10869 and Zone Amending Bylaw No. 10870 be 
considered by Council; 
 
AND THAT Council authorize the issuance of Heritage Alteration Permit No. HAP13-0004 for Lot A, 
DL 14, ODYD, Plan EPP30318, located at 434 Royal Avenue, Kelowna, subject to the following: 
 

1) The dimensions and siting of the building to be constructed on the land be in 
general accordance with Schedule "A"; 

 
2) The exterior design and finish of the building to be constructed on the land be in 

general accordance with Schedule “B”; 
 
 3) Landscaping to be provided be in general accordance with Schedule "C";  
 
AND THAT the applicant be required to complete the above-noted condition 3 within 180 days of 
Council’s approval of the Development Permit Application in order for the permit to be issued. 
 
AND FURTHER THAT variances to the following sections of Zoning Bylaw No. 8000: 

 
Section 7.6.1 (b) Minimum Landscape Buffers 
Vary the front yard landscape buffer from 3.0m required to 0.3m proposed. 

31



HAP13-0004 – Page 2 

 
 

 
Section 8.1.10 (c) Parking Regulations  
Vary the required front yard parking setback from 2.0m required to 0.3m proposed.  
 
Section 8.3.5 Landscaped Island 
Vary the landscape island area from 182m² required to 38.66m² proposed. 

2.0 Purpose  

To consider a Heritage Alteration Permit to demolish the Heritage Register home located at 434 
Royal Avenue and to consider the proposed parking lot’s design details. The following variances 
to the Zoning Bylaw are also being proposed: 
 

 Vary the required front yard parking setback from 2.0m required to 0.3m proposed; 

 Vary the front yard landscape buffer from 3.0m required to 0.3m proposed; 

 Vary the landscape island area from 182m² required to 38.66m² proposed. 

3.0 Urban Planning Department 

The subject properties are located within the Abbott Street Heritage Conservation area and the 
property located at 434 Royal Avenue is listed on the City’s Heritage Register (see attached 
Heritage Register information). The Rezoning and OCP amendment applications were supported 
by Council at the July 15th, 2013 Public Hearing, however Council encouraged the applicant to 
consider other uses that could preserve the Heritage home on site or via a coordinated 
relocation. Staff have also encouraged the applicant to consider undertaking an HRA to preserve 
the remaining heritage register listed home in exchange for allowing the building to be used for 
Health Services. The applicant has indicated that the properties were purchased in an attempt to 
provide additional parking and that attempts to have the home relocated have been 
unsuccessful. For these reasons the applicant is proposing to demolish the heritage residence 
(See applicant’s Heritage Alteration Permit rationale). 
 
From a design perspective, Staff have indicated that a very high parking lot treatment is 
expected in order to provide as sensitive a transition as possible to the abutting residential 
neighbourhood. This would consist of high quality finishing materials including lighting, fencing, 
landscape buffering and a surface treatment that is a not conventional asphalt surface parking 
lot. The overall design has been greatly improved from the original proposal, but Staff would 
prefer that the proposal didn’t include variances to the setbacks and landscaping standards. 
While significant landscaping is proposed larger landscape islands and buffers would further 
enhance the overall aesthetic of the project. IHA undertook a significant public consultation 
project where the neighbourhood indicated that larger more robust fencing and four season 
landscaping is preferred, this process had an impact on the overall design with more buffering 
provided adjacent to neighbouring properties than Royal Avenue.  
 
Although the parking lot design does not meet all bylaw requirements it has been designed to 
minimize impacts to adjacent residents where possible. The larger fencing and dense landscaping 
will help to create a high quality parking area that will allow the Emergency centre to function 
properly. IHA has also undergone a ‘Request for Expressions of Interest’ to have the heritage 
home relocated (attached). Unfortunately, this process did not result in any firm offers to 
relocate the home. While Staff would have preferred a comprehensive plan from IHA for parking 
within the existing KGH campus, based on the design details and relocation attempts Staff are 
supportive of the proposal.  

32



HAP13-0004 – Page 3 

 
 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

The Rezoning and OCP amendment applications were supported by Council at the July 15th, 2013 
Public Hearing, however Council encouraged IHA to consider other uses that could preserve the 
Heritage home on site or via a coordinated relocation. In principle Council supported the land use 
but wanted further comment from the Community Heritage Commission (CHC) with regards to 
the heritage register home and the parking lot design. When the HAP was considered at the May 
2nd, 2013 meeting the CHC did not support the proposal. The motion from the meeting is included 
at the end of this report in the ‘Application Chronology’ section.  

4.2 Project Description 

The Interior Health Authority has purchased the three subject properties with the intent of 
building a surface parking lot in support of the Kelowna General Hospital Campus. The proposal 
shows a total of 91 surface parking stalls with landscape buffers of varying widths around the 
perimeter of the property. It is important to note that the east, west and north landscape buffers 
conform to the Zoning Bylaw landscape buffer requirements but that the southern buffer 
adjacent to Royal Avenue is only 0.3m where 3.0m is required. Although the landscape buffer and 
setback have been reduced along Royal Avenue, the applicant has proposed significant 
landscaping within the Right of Way which should make up for the reduced buffer width. The 
fence will be 2.4m in height which is 0.4m higher than the residential standard and provides a 
more appropriate fence height for the context similar to what would be found in commercial or 
industrial areas.   

The site will be hooked across the street with the KGH campus, although the KGH campus is 
zoned HD1–Kelowna General Hospital the proposed parking lot will be zoned P1 – Major 
Institutional as it is a major government use that isn’t intended to accommodate any further KGH 
expansion beyond the proposed surface parking. The Interior Health Authority undertook an 
extensive public consultation process to engage and better understand the neighbourhood’s 
position towards to the parking lot expansion, a summary of this process is attached at the end of 
this report. IHA will be urbanizing the north side of Royal Avenue from Abbott Street to Pandosy 
Street which is a previous commitment that will be brought forward with this project. 
Additionally, the existing lane that runs N/S between 458 and 442 Royal Avenue would be closed, 
sold to IHA and consolidated with the subject properties. The project compares to Zoning Bylaw 
No. 8000 as follows: 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA P1 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

 

Parking setbacks 

North - 2.0m 
South – 1.5m 
East – 1.5m 
West – 1.5m 

North – 2.01m 

South – 0.3m* 

East – 3.0m 
West – 3.0m 

Landscape Buffers 

North – 3.0m or Opaque Fence 
South – 3.0m  
East – 3.0m 
West – 3.0m 

North - 2.01m & Opaque Fence 
South - 0.3m* 
East – 3.0m 
West – 3.0m 

Landscape Island Area 182m² 38.66m² * 

* Vary required front yard parking setback from 2.0m required to 0.3m proposed. 

* Vary front yard landscape buffer from 3.0m required to 0.3m proposed. 

* Vary landscape island area from 182m² required to 38.66m² proposed. 

33



HAP13-0004 – Page 4 

 
 

4.3 Site Context 

The subject properties are located along Royal Avenue in the Heritage Conservation Area directly 
across from the Kelowna General Hospital.    

Adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North RU1 – Large Lot Housing Residential 

East RU1 – Large Lot Housing Residential 

South HD1 – Kelowna General Hospital                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         Kelowna General Hospital                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
West RU1 – Large Lot Housing Residential 

 

Subject Property Map:  
 

 

5.0 Current Development Policies  

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan 2030 (OCP)  

5.1.1 Heritage Conservation Area Guidelines (Chapter 18) 1  

 Maintain the residential and historical character of the Marshall Street and the Abbott 
Street Heritage Conservation Areas; 

 Encourage new development, additions and renovations to existing development which 
are compatible with the form and character of the existing context; 

                                                      
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Chapter 16 

34



HAP13-0004 – Page 5 

 
 

 Ensure that change to buildings and streetscapes will be undertaken in ways which offer 
continuity of the ‘sense-of-place’ for neighbours, the broader community; and 

 Provide historical interest for visitors through context sensitive development. 
 

5.1.2 Development Process (Chapter 5)2 

Objective 5.32  Ensure the development of institutional facilities meets the needs of residents. 
 
Policy .9 Health Care Facilities. Support the extension of services and appropriate building 
expansions of the Kelowna General Hospital and other health care facilities, as provided for on 
the Generalized Future Land Use Map 4.1. The form and character of future expansions should be 
compatible with the surrounding neighbourhood context. 
 

5.2 Abbott Marshall Street Heritage Conservation Area Design Guidelines 

 
• Post & beam feel to the architecture 
• High gable and dormer roof form 
• Projecting eaves, open soffit & brackets 
• Half-timber with stucco infill panels 
• Up to 2 storeys with attic 
• Upper storeys within roof mass 
• Vertical double-hung window openings 
• Single & multi-sash window assembly 
• Half-timber window & door trim 
• Multiple pane windows 
• Asymmetrical front facade on cottages 
• Symmetrical fronts on more formal homes 
• Wood shingle roofing 
• Side or rear yard parking 
 

6.0 Technical Comments 

Addressed as part of Zone and OCP Amending applications. 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received: March 20th, 2013 
Community Heritage Committee: May 2nd, 2013 
Public Information Meetings:  April 16th, 2013, May 15th, 2013 & May 30th, 2013 
Public Hearing (Zone & OCP): July 15th, 2013 
Community Heritage Committee: May 2nd, 2013 
 
The following motion was passed by the Community Heritage Committee: 

THAT the Community Heritage Committee does NOT support the Heritage Alteration Permit No. HAP13-
0004 for 434 Royal Avenue to allow Interior Health to demolish the Heritage Register home the house on 
the property. 
                                                      
2
 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Chapter 5 

35



HAP13-0004 – Page 6 

 
 

THAT the Community heritage Committee does NOT support the aesthetics of the proposed parking lot 
design; 
 
THAT the Community Heritage Committee does NOT support the Heritage Alteration Permit No. 
HAP13-0004 for 434 Royal Avenue to vary:  
1) the required front yard parking setback from 2.0 m required to 0.3 m proposed;  
2) the reduction of the front yard landscape buffer from 3.0 m required to 0.3 m proposed; and  
3) the landscape island area from 182m2 required to 38.66m2 proposed  
 
Anecdotal Comments: 
The Community Heritage Committee could not support HAP13-0004 to demolish the existing 
heritage building because it would inconsistent with the Committee’s mandate.  
 
The Community Heritage Committee wishes to advise Council that they are aware of the need to 
provide parking in close proximity to the Emergency Department, but that they would prefer 
that:  
• the future of the whole block be dealt with at once; and  

• the design of the parking lot respect the heritage character of the area, for example, incorporate heritage 
elements into the design that are clearly visible to future users of the site. 
 
Final HAP Package Submitted: January 2nd, 2014 

Report prepared by: 

     
Alec Warrender, Land Use Planner  
 
 

Reviewed by:   Ryan Smith, Manager, Urban Planning 
 

Approved Inclusion:  D. Gilchrist, Community Planning & Real Estate Divisional Director 

 

 

Attachments:  

Site Plan 
Lighting Plan 
Fence Design 
Landscape Plan 
Applicant’s Letter of Rationale 
Heritage Register Information 
 
 

36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: February 18, 2014 

RIM No. 0940-60 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (AR) 

Application: HAP13-0020 Owners: 
Edward Wiltshire         
Marilyn Wiltshire 

Address: 1979 Abbott Street Applicant: dBA Fine Home Designs 

Subject: Heritage Alteration Permit 

Existing OCP Designation: S2RES - Single/Two Unit Residential 

Existing Zone: RU1 – Large Lot Housing 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Council authorize the issuance of Heritage Alteration Permit No. HAP13-0020 for Lot 1, 
District Lot 14, ODYD, Plan 3998, located at 1979 Abbott Street, Kelowna, BC, subject to the 
following: 

1) The dimensions and siting of the building to be constructed on the land be in 
general accordance with Schedule "A"; 

2) The exterior design and finish of the building to be constructed on the land be in 
general accordance with Schedule “B”; 

AND FURTHER THAT variances to the following sections of Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 be granted: 

Section 8.1.2  Off-street Vehicle Parking – Table 8.1 Parking Schedule 
Vary the required parking for a single detached dwelling from 2 spaces required to 1 space 
proposed; 

Section 13.1.6 (d) RU1 Zone – Development Regulations  
Vary the required side yard setback on a flanking street from 4.5 m required to 0.08 m 
proposed.  

2.0 Purpose 

To consider a Heritage Alteration Permit (HAP) to permit additions to the main floor of the 
existing house, and to raise the existing main floor elevation to facilitate the reconstruction of 
the existing crawl space. The application also includes variances to legalize the existing non-
conforming north side yard and provision of one onsite parking space. 

  

55



HAP13-0020 – Page 2 

 
 

3.0 Urban Planning Department 

The subject property is located in the Abbott Street Heritage Conservation Area; however, it is 
not presently included on the City’s Heritage Register. The subject dwelling is one of four 
modest, early (c. 1933-1945) one-storey cottages that line the east side of Abbott Street south of 
Beach Avenue (see attached photos). The dominant style for the block, including the subject 
dwelling, is identified in the Abbott Street Heritage Conservation Area Guidelines as “Late 
Vernacular Cottage”.  
 
Staff is generally supportive of the proposed additions and alterations to the subject property, 
and feel that the overall proposal is a thoughtful approach to the challenge of improving the 
liveability of the dwelling, while respecting its modest proportions and responding to the 
irregular lot configuration. The proposed addition to the front elevation of the existing dwelling 
affords additional living space and functionality, while being generally in keeping with the scale 
and character of the original, one-storey cottage structure.  
 
The main floor elevation of the existing dwelling is proposed to be modestly raised to 
accommodate the redevelopment of the existing crawl space to address the Mill Creek flood plain 
and to ensure its long-term structural integrity. The 0.5 m height by which the dwelling will be 
raised, while somewhat higher than the adjacent cottages, will be moderated by a graduated 
increase of existing grades around the perimeter of the dwelling.   
 
The siting of the existing dwelling on the subject property is non-conforming under current 
zoning regulations along the north side property line, flanking Beach Avenue. Additionally, the 
site only accommodates one onsite parking space. The proposed alterations to the existing 
dwelling necessitate that these non-conformities be legalized. Staff is supportive of the two 
variances being sought to legalize the non-conformities as they are original to the existing pre-
WWII structure. Further, while there are discrete portions of the existing dwelling that encroach 
almost fully into the minimum required 4.5 m side yard along Beach Avenue, there is minimal 
impact as these portions are of a modest one-storey height and there is a generous City 
boulevard of approximately 4.6 m which separates the existing dwelling from the street. Finally, 
all proposed new construction will conform to current zoning requirements. 
 
The applicant has consulted with immediate neighbours regarding the proposal. To date, the 
application file manager has not been contacted with any inquiries or concerns regarding the 
overall proposal or variances (to legalize the existing non-conformities).    

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

In February 2013, an earlier Heritage Alteration Permit (HAP) was submitted under HAP13-0001 
for the subject property to undertake the following works: 

 raise the existing single family dwelling on the subject site by 2 m; 

 construct a basement on the existing footings: and  

 legalize the existing non-conforming north side yard.  

In March 2013, the Community Heritage Committee (CHC) recommended non-support for the 
proposed alterations, noting the resultant building would not be in keeping with the form and 
character of the Heritage Conservation Area. In May 2013, Council moved to not authorize 
HAP13-0001.  

56



HAP13-0020 – Page 3 

 
 

In June 2013, a Building Permit (BP) was issued under BP46519 to permit the crawl space of the 
existing dwelling to be lowered further into the ground, while maintaining the existing main floor 
elevation. In September 2013, a Stop Work Order was issued as the dwelling had subsequently 
been raised higher than the permitted existing main floor elevation, and pending submission and 
issuance of a new HAP application. 

In December 2013, the subject HAP application was submitted under HAP13-0020 to address and 
remedy the non-permitted work previously undertaken onsite. At its January 16, 2013 meeting, 
the Community Heritage Committee (CHC) unanimously supported the proposed application 
(refer to the ‘Application Chronology’ section for the CHC motion).  

4.2 Project Description 

The subject HAP application was submitted in December 2013 under HAP13-0020 to address and 
remedy the non-permitted work previously undertaken onsite, which has raised the main floor 
elevation of the existing dwelling. The application also proposes floor area efficiencies and 
additions to the existing dwelling to enhance its livability over the long term. 

Specifically, HAP13-0020 proposes the following substantive changes to the existing, one-storey 
single family dwelling onsite (see attached drawings):  

 an addition to the front of the existing dwelling, to accommodate additional living 
space and an expanded front porch; 

 the addition of two projections to the south side elevation of the existing dwelling; 

 raising the main floor elevation 0.5 m above the existing elevation to facilitate the 
redevelopment of the existing crawl space; and 

 raising the existing onsite grade around the perimeter of the dwelling by 0.46 m. 

The proposed additions would add 28.2 m2 of new floor area to the existing 90.2 m2 dwelling, for 
a total floor area of 118.4 m2. Other alterations include the removal and addition of windows, 
doors, and external stairs. The exterior stucco finish for the additions, as well as the new 
windows and doors, are proposed to match the existing dwelling.  

The siting of the existing dwelling is non-conforming under current zoning regulations. The 
proposed alterations to the existing dwelling necessitate that the existing non-conformities be 
legalized. Consequently, the subject HAP application also seeks variances to legalize the 
following non-conformities for the existing dwelling: 

 the north side yard setback of existing dwelling along Beach Avenue - portions of the 
existing dwelling are 0.5 m and 0.08 m from the north property line (see attached survey 
plan), where the existing zoning would otherwise require a minimum setback of 4.5 m; 
and 

 the provision of one onsite parking space for the single family dwelling, where the existing  
zoning would otherwise require a minimum of two parking onsite parking spaces.  

The proposed new additions and alterations to the existing dwelling conform to current zoning 
requirements, and no variances are being sought to accommodate the new construction.  

Discrete portions of the soffit and eaves of the existing dwelling encroach within City boulevard 
along Beach Avenue by 0.05 m and 0.44 m (see attached survey plan). These encroachments do 
not pose any immediate concern for the City, and the owner has been notified that, in future, a 
License of Occupation may be needed or may need to be removed. 

57



HAP13-0020 – Page 4 

 
 

4.3 Site Context 

The subject property fronts Abbott Street, at the southeast corner of Abbott Street and Beach 
Avenue, within the Abbott Street Heritage Conservation Area. The subject property is zoned RU1 
– Large Lot Housing and designated as Single/Two Unit Residential in the Official Community 
Plan. The surrounding area is characterized by established, RU1 single family dwellings. 

Subject Property Map: 1979 Abbott Street 

 

4.4 Zoning Analysis Table 

The proposed application meets the requirements of the RU1- Large Lot Housing zone as follows: 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA RU1 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 

Lot Area 550 m2 348.9 m2  

Lot Width 16.5 m Approx. 18 m 

Lot Depth 30 m Approx. 30 m 

Site Coverage (Buildings) 40% 36 % 

Site Coverage 

 (Buildings & Parking) 
50%  42 % 

  

58



HAP13-0020 – Page 5 

 
 

Zoning Analysis Table (cont.) 

CRITERIA RU1 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Single Family Dwelling  

Height 9.5 m / 2½ storeys 
5.08 m (from existing grade) / 1 storey 

4.57 m (from proposed grade) / 1 storey 

Front Yard 4.5 m (6.0 m to a garage)  4.6 m 

Side Yard (north) 2.0 m (1 – 1½ storeys)  
4.57 m (to new addition) 

0.08 m (to exiting dwelling)  

Side Yard (south) 2.0 m (1 – 1½ storeys) 2.0 m 

Rear Yard 7.5 m 9.63 m 

Other Regulations 

Min. Parking 
Requirements 

2 spaces 1 space  

 To vary minimum required north side yard for the existing dwelling from 4.5m required to 0.08 m provided. 

 To vary minimum required parking for the existing dwelling from 2 spaces required to 1 space provided. 

5.0 Current Development Policies 

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Chapter 9 - Heritage Policies 

Objective 9.2 Identify and conserve heritage resources. 

Policy 9.2.4 Conservation Areas. Development in the Abbott Street and Marshall Street Heritage 
Conservation Area outlined on Map 9.1 will be assessed using the Abbott Street and Marshall 
Street Heritage Conservation Area Guidelines in Chapter 16. 

Chapter 16 - Heritage Conservation Area  

Objectives:  

• Maintain the residential and historical character of the Marshall Street and the Abbott Street 
Heritage Conservation Areas; 

• Encourage new development, additions and renovations to existing development which are 
compatible with the form and character of the existing context; 

• Ensure that change to buildings and streetscapes will be undertaken in ways which offer 
continuity of the ‘sense-of-place’ for neighbours, the broader community; and 

• Provide historical interest for visitors through context sensitive development. 

4.2     Heritage Conservation Area Development Guidelines 

The subject property falls within the third civic phase which spans from the end of the Great 
Depression, about 1933, and continues through to the end of World War II, 1945. This period is 
noted for a declining interest in traditional styles in favour of smaller, less ornately detailed 
housing development. The dominate styles of this period are the Late Vernacular Cottage and the 
‘forward looking’ Moderne architecture. 

The dominant style for this block, including the subject site, is “Late Vernacular Cottage”, 
characterized by the following aspects.  

59



HAP13-0020 – Page 6 

 
 

Late Vernacular Cottage Characteristics  

 Less fanciful feel to the architecture  
 Flush gable verges  
 Stucco or horizontal siding  
 Up to 2 storey massing  
 Clustered vertical window sashes  
 Asymmetrical facade design  
 Flush front entrance  
 Minor decorative detailing  
 Gable roof forms  
 Wood or interlocking asphalt shingle  
 Side or rear yard parking  

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

A new building permit will be required and conformance to the current code will be determined 
at plan check stage. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

Refer to Development Engineering Memorandum, dated January 9, 2014. 

6.3 Real Estate Department 

The encroachments do not significantly impact the Boulevard, and therefore, are not of grave 
concern to the City. The owner has been notified that, in future, a License of Occupation for the 
encroachments may be required, or they may be required to be removed at owner cost,. 

7.0 Application Chronology 

Date of Application Received: December 18, 2014  

Community Heritage Committee: January 16, 2014 

The following recommendations were passed by the Community Heritage Committee: 

THAT the Community Heritage Committee supports Heritage Alteration Permit Application No. 
HAP13-0020 for the property located at 1979 Abbott Street in order to permit additions to the 
main floor of the existing house and to raise the existing main floor elevation by 0.5 m to 
facilitate the reconstruction of the existing crawl space. 
 
THAT the Community Heritage Committee supports Heritage Alteration Permit Application No. 
HAP13-0020 for the property located at 1979 Abbott Street to: 

a) vary the minimum required north side yard setback for the existing dwelling from 4.5 m 
required to 0.08 m proposed; and 

b) vary the minimum required parking for the existing dwelling from two (2) spaces required 
to one (1) space proposed. 

  

60



HAP13-0020 – Page 7 

 
 

Report prepared by: 

                          

Abigail Riley, Planner II, Urban Planning 
 
 

Reviewed by:        Ryan Smith, Manager, Urban Planning 

Approved for Inclusion   D. Gilchrist, Community Planning & Real Estate Divisional Director 
 

Attachments: 

Subject Property Map 
Survey Plan of Existing Dwelling 
Site Plan 
Elevations Drawings 
Floor Plans 
Colour Board 
Context/Site Photos 
Development Engineering Memorandum, dated January 9, 2014 
Draft Heritage Alteration Permit 

61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75


	Agenda
	3. Minutes - February 4, 2014 Public Hearing.pdf
	3. Minutes - February 4, 2014 Regular Meeting.pdf
	4.1 Bylaw No. 10912 (OCP13-0008).pdf
	4.2 Bylaw No. 10913 (Z13-0009).pdf
	6.1 Bylaw No. 10854 (Z12-0006).pdf
	6.1.1 2014 02 18 Report LL12-0002587-589 Lawrence Ave.docx
	6.1.1 2014 02 18 Attachments LL12-0002 587-589 Lawrence Ave.pdf
	7.1 Bylaw No. 10896 (OCP13-0009).pdf
	7.1.1 Bylaw No. 10870 (Z13-0015).pdf
	7.1.2 2014 02 18 Report HAP13-0004 434 Royal Ave.docx
	7.1.2 2014 02 18 Attachments HAP13-0004 434 Royal Ave.pdf
	7.2 2014-02-18 - Report - HAP13-0020.docx
	7.2 2014-02-18 - Attachments - HAP13-0020.pdf

